IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

WYNONA HARRIS. Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

CITY OF SANTA MONICA, Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B199571 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC 341569

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

THE NOURMAND LAW FIRM, APC

Michael Nourmand, Esq., SBN 198439 1801 Century Park East, Suite 2600 Los Angeles, California 90067 Telephone: (310) 553-3600

Facsimile:

(310) 553-3603

Email:

mnourmand@nourmandlawfirm.com

THE deRUBERTIS LAW FIRM

INTRODUCTION

It is undeniable that a person cannot be a little bit pregnant. It is no more debatable that a company cannot be guilty of "only a little bit" of discrimination. Either you are discriminating or you are not, and the FEHA demands that any proven discrimination entitle the plaintiff to relief and subject the defendant to consequences. A mixed-motive defense — especially in the complete defense to liability form adopted by the appellate court — would turn these basic principles upside down.

Congress incorporated the mixed-motive defense, originally a creature of federal common law, into Title VII's statutory text. By striking contrast, the FEHA's statutory text recognizes no such defense. Our Legislature did adopt other enumerated statutory defenses, but chose not to adopt a mixed-motive defense. Thus, established principles of statutory construction preclude judicial creation of this non-statutory defense.

Moreover, by granting tacit approval of *some discrimination*, the mixed-motive defense is a direct affront to the FEHA's statutory mandate of aggressive prevention of discrimination. The defense also results in an unduly narrow construction of the FEHA's core prohibitions – contrary to the legislative mandate of liberal construction. Incorporating this Title VII defense into the FEHA also ignores the key fact that the FEHA is

intentionally broader than Title VII and, thus, Title VII defenses cannot be reflexively applied to the FEHA.

For these reasons, this Court should decline to adopt any form of mixed-motive defense.

But, assuming *arguendo* that this Court does adopt a mixed-motive defense, the appellate court's version cannot withstand scrutiny.

To begin with, because the statute's text does not support this defense, it can only be created as a judicial recognition of equitable principles. Consequently, this Court can, and should, impose equitable conditions on the right to assert the defense.

A maxim of equity is that "one who seeks equity must do equity" by recognizing and protecting the other party's transactionally-related rights. Consistent with this principle, this Court should require that an employer asserting the mixed-motive defense must acknowledge the very factual basis for the defense – that it actually operated under mixed-motives. This rule would ensure that the assertion of the defense protects (not defeats) the plaintiff's transactionally-related rights. It would also prevent an employer from inequitably engaging in inconsistent double-speak by first asserting that it did not operate under mixed-motives, but then (only after the trier of

fact disbelieves this assertion) invoking a defense the very factual basis of which is directly inconsistent with the employer's stated position.

This Court should also require clear and convincing proof to establish the defense.

The difficulty of proving (or disproving) what the employer would have done absent the discrimination is necessarily caused by the fact that the employer did discriminate. Had it not done so, there would be no need to engage in this hypothetical, retrospective analysis. Thus, fairness demands that the discriminating employer bear the risk of an erroneous decision.

Likewise, the fact that the defense requires the inherently difficult exercise of proving (or disproving) another's state of mind also justifies imposing a higher standard of proof.

Turning to the effect of a proven mixed-motive defense, the complete defense to liability approach adopted by the appellate court cannot stand. Such a defense would "permit" under the FEHA conduct prohibited by Title VII. The Supremacy Clause, and Title VII's express preemption statute, forbid this result. Thus, as a starting point, any FEHA mixed-motive defense cannot be less-protective than the federal analogue.

But recognizing a FEHA mixed-motive defense which merely parallels Title VII's is an unsupportable result. The FEHA is decidedly more employee-protective than is Title VII. Nowhere is this more clearly seen than in the comparison of the FEHA's provision of literally unlimited damages to Title VII's strict statutory ceiling on damages. These statutory distinctions, and other key FEHA policies, demand that any FEHA mixed-motive defense limit *fewer remedies* than does the Title VII counterpart.

Lastly, regardless of how this Court decides the issues above, the jury's verdict in this case must be affirmed.

The mixed-motive jury instruction the City offered does not apply in pretext cases. And, here, both sides framed this case as a pretext case.

The City also twice waived the right to assert the defense at trial. First, it waived the defense by not asserting it in its Answer. Second, it waived the defense by failing to propose a legally-correct and complete instruction. Either of these waivers requires affirming the jury's verdict.

Finally, if the Court disagrees with our waiver arguments, only a limited re-trial should be ordered. The jury's predicate liability and resulting damage findings must be kept intact and the re-trial limited solely to issues relating to the defense.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- Does the mixed-motive defense now a statutory defense found within the text of Title VII – apply to FEHA claims despite the absence of any text in the California statute authorizing the defense?
- 2. If the mixed-motive defense does apply to FEHA claims, when does it apply? Is a mixed-motive instruction warranted in *every* FEHA discrimination or retaliation case, or must certain *factual predicates* be present for example, evidence that the employer actually considered *both* proper *and* improper factors to justify a mixed-motive instruction?
- 3. If the mixed-motive defense does apply to FEHA claims, what effect does it have if proven? Is the defense broader under the FEHA than Title VII so that it provides a complete defense to FEHA claims?

 Or, consistent with the FEHA's broad remedial purpose, does the defense merely limit *some* remedies?

SUMMARY OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Harris worked as a driver for the City's Big Blue Bus.¹

On October 4, 2004, Harris began working as a Motor Coach

Operator (MCO, a bus driver) Trainee. (5RT 2165:14-2167:26; 1AA 156-

157, 174.) Harris was one of five trainees (out of a class of ten) to successfully complete the training program. (3RT 415:13-16, 416:5-7, 417:10-25.) Near the beginning of her training, Harris was involved in a minor accident where the back door of her bus bumped the bumper of a van. (5RT 2178:27-2179:15.)

Notwithstanding this accident, on November 14, 2004, the City promoted Harris to MCO Part Time. (5RT 2180:10-2181:15, 19-21; 2407:8-26; 1AA 190.) In this position, Harris was a probationary, at-will employee for a period of one year. (3RT 415:17-416:1.)

On March 1, 2005, Sheila Terry (Harris' supervisor) conducted Harris' first and only performance evaluation. (5RT 2407:8-13, 2407:27-2408:9; 4RT 968:8-10.) Terry gave Harris only positive feedback on her work performance and wrote the following in Harris' written evaluation under "Work Habits/Reliability":

¹ The Court of Appeal correctly held "there was substantial evidence to support the jury's verdict for Harris." (Opinion, 12.) The City did not seek review of this finding and, thus, no substantial evidence challenge is before this Court so we present an abbreviated factual summary.

Follows policies and procedures, Wynona Harris operates vehicle with minimum supervision. During this evaluation period, Wynona Harris had no absences, no complaints, no compliments, two accidents (preventable [sic]) no miss out², no late reports, no running hot."

At the end of the report, Terry wrote: "Keep up the Great Job!" and

Terry did believe Harris was doing a "great job." (4RT 968:11-974:28; 5RT 2408:16-19; 1AA 195-198.)

Elsewhere on this same evaluation, Terry wrote: "Harris has demonstrated quality performance as set forth in the Operator manual under job requirements." (1AA 195.) Terry rated Harris' performance as the second highest rating out of four ("Further Development Needed"), and told Harris that the only reason she did not receive the highest rating was

² A "miss-out" occurs when a driver does not "report to the Dispatch office, in person, ready for work, sixty (60) minutes, or more after the established sign on time." (1AA 183.) Harris incurred a "miss-out" on February 18, 2005; but, Terry did not even mention this during the March 1 performance evaluation meeting. (4RT 969:12-19; 972:21-24.)

³ Every City employee who supervised Harris testified that Harris was a good employee, and they had no issues with her performance. (Johnson – 3RT 351:6-16; Ramirez – 3RT 416:2-22; Terry – 4RT 965:27-966:19.)

B. Eleven weeks after her positive performance evaluation, and within two weeks after Harris told her manager she was pregnant, the City terminates Harris.

In early May 2005, George Reynoso (Harris' second-level

supervisor) mentioned to Harris that her uniform shirttail was not tucked in. Harris replied that she had a "little situation," at which time Harris told Reynoso that she was expecting. Reynoso "did not seem too pleased" about the news and responded by saying: "Wow. How far along are you?" and "what are you going to do?" Reynoso then asked Harris to obtain a note from her doctor confirming that it was safe for Harris to drive a bus. (5RT 2424:5-2425:13.)

On or about May 12, 2005, Harris obtained the requested doctor's note, confirming that she had been under medical care for her pregnancy and verifying that she could safely drive for work. (5RT 2425:14-2426:28; 1AA 209.) On May 16, 2005, Harris gave the doctor's note to Reynoso while Reynoso was standing with Robert Ayer (the City's Transit Services Manager and Reynoso's direct supervisor). Ayer did not know if the City

⁴ After Harris' promotion, she had a second accident where she bumped a parked vehicle damaging its side-view mirror. (5RT 2409:27-2411:8.) Terry did not know the circumstances of this accident, nor did she discuss it during Harris' evaluation. (4RT 975:20-23; 5RT 2411:6-8.)

had decided to terminate Harris' employment at the time Harris gave the note to Reynoso. (5RT 2151:13-27.)

On May 18, 2005, two days after she provided the City with the doctor's note confirming that it was safe for her to drive a bus, Ayer fired Harris. Ayer gave no reason for Harris' termination. (5RT 2428:11-27, 2430:24-2431:18.)

- C. The City's alleged performance-based reasons for terminating Harris were a pretext to mask pregnancy animus.
 - 1. The City changed its articulated basis for terminating Harris several times.

Throughout pre-trial litigation, the City repeatedly asserted that it terminated Harris because she had accumulated fifty demerit points for two miss-outs in ninety days.⁵ (5RT 2500:18-2505:10; 3RA 595-625; 1RA 161 - ¶ 18:8-11.) But, the City's original claimed reason found no support in its

⁵ Harris' first miss-out occurred on February 18, 2005. Harris' second miss-out occurred on April 27, 2005 when – because of stress she was enduring dealing with her daughter's court appearance – she forgot to call her dispatcher, Marcella Johnson, as she had agreed to do. Ayer investigated the circumstances of this miss-out and concluded that it should remain in Harris' file. (Opinion, 3-4.) But Ayer never told Harris she was being considered for termination based on these miss-outs or any other performance-related reason. (5RT 1808:27-1809:3, 2418:26-2430, 2420:25-2424:4; 4RT1620:1-1626:19; 1AA 200, 205, 207.)

own policies. The City's policies did *not* state that a probationary employee is subject to termination for accumulating fifty points within ninety days.⁶

Thus, at trial, the City modified its supposed justification for terminating Harris. Now, the City claimed that Harris was terminated because of the two miss-outs, two preventable accidents and her evaluation rating of "further development needed." (5RT 2113:28-2114:12.) Even on appeal, the City changed its justification again, this time failing to assert that Harris' accidents played any role in the termination decision.⁷ (Appellant's Opening Brief, 28.)

2. The City failed to establish an actual practice, protocol or policy justifying Reynoso's request that Harris provide a doctor's note.

To explain the demand that Harris supply a doctor's note regarding her pregnancy, the City claimed at trial that it had a practice since the

⁶ Harris showed that no such policy was written in the "Motor Coach Manual" (1AA 181-184), the "Guidelines For Job Performance Evaluation" (1AA 176-177), or the "Criteria for Probationary Termination." (1AA 179.) The City's employees acknowledged as much. (Ramirez - 3RT 422:25-423:9,423:21-427:3 427:6-27; Gonzalez - 4RT 1022:14-1024:27; Reynoso - 4RT 1534:9-1535:23, 1556:7-24, 1575:5-15, 1584:21-1586:20; Negriff - 6RT 2767:28-2768:9, 2769:4-17, 2772:7-2774:2; Terry – 4RT 964:8-965:26; Ayer - 5RT 1841:6-1843:17, 2130:8-26.)

⁷ This change on appeal is not surprising given that Terry testified at trial that a probationary employee has to be involved in *four* preventable accidents to warrant termination. (4RT 990:20-991:3.)

1980's of "requiring" pregnant MCOs to provide such a doctor's note. However, the City's own witnesses belied this claim.

Reynoso testified at trial that he does not know of any protocol that required management to ask pregnant MCOs to provide such a doctor's note. (4RT 1531:14-20; 1AA 209.) At trial, during examination by Harris' counsel, Ayer confirmed both that he, too, was unaware of any such written guidelines and that he had never asked a pregnant MCO to provide him with a doctor's note. (5RT 1821:11-23.) When questioned by defense counsel, Ayer changed his testimony now stating that there was a "practice" to request a doctor's note from pregnant drivers. According to Ayer, this practice was for the safety of the driver and their passengers. (5RT 2114:23-2115:2.) But yet again, in response to re-cross examination by Harris' counsel, Ayer changed his testimony, confirming there was no "requirement" to provide a note, but more of a practice or procedure. Ayer further testified he would not call it a "great policy," and admitted that it is not one that he follows. (5RT 2135:28-2136:23.)

Jill Jones, the Assistant Director of Human Resources for the City, confirmed that the City did not regulate this supposed "practice" of requiring a doctor's note. (5RT 2518:22-2519:8.) When asked by a juror: "If the practice of requesting doctor's note from pregnant MCOs has been

in place since the late 80's, why has it never become a written policy?,"

Jones could not directly answer the juror's question. (5RT 2524:6-13.)

3. The April 27 miss-out would have been excused under the City's own practice.

The evidence at trial established that one of the claimed bases for termination – the April 27 miss-out – would have been excused had the City not terminated Harris after learning she was pregnant. City employees testified that miss-outs can be excused as long as there is a legitimate reason (including court appearances) if the absence can be corroborated with appropriate documentation. While Reynoso testified at trial that he had never excused a miss-out caused by an MCO's need to appear in court, he was impeached with his deposition where he admitted that if proof of a court appearance was provided, then the miss-out *would have been* removed. (4RT 1537:13-1539:25; 2RA 378-380.)

Likewise, at trial Manuel Gonzalez, another supervisor, tried to testify that if the note dated April 27, 2005 from Inglewood Juvenile Court was presented to him (1AA205), it would not give him cause to consider excusing Harris' April 27 miss-out. But, Gonzalez too was impeached with his deposition where he testified that the opposite was true – such

documentation would have given him cause to excuse the miss-out. (4RT 1030:2-1031:15; 2RA 429-434.)

And, finally, Marzella Johnson, the dispatcher who received Harris' telephone call from the Inglewood courthouse, testified that the note Harris obtained from court — if it had a "time stamp" — would have been sufficient to excuse a miss-out. (3RT 362:3-363:10; 1AA 205; 2RA 410-411.)

D. The City consistently denied that Harris' pregnancy was a motivating reason in her termination, claiming she was fired for unsatisfactory performance.

From the outset, the City framed the issue as a classic "pretext" case, not a mixed-motive case. The City did not plead mixed-motive as an affirmative defense in its Answer. (1AA 22-30.) Instead, it plead that Plaintiff's termination "was based on one or more legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons. *Nor was the termination of plaintiff taken under pretext*." (1AA 28) (italics added.)

Consistent with the City's treating this case as a non-mixed-motive case, its original set of jury instructions did not contain a mixed-motive instruction. (1AA 67-73.) Likewise, the City's initial proposed verdict form did not contain questions related to mixed-motive defense. (1AA 90-93.) The City submitted an offer of proof to demonstrate that it did not

discriminate against Harris at all – not alleging at all that it operated under mixed-motives. (1AA 117-123.)

The City's opening statement drove home this point: "[This trial] is not about pregnancy. It is about failing to meet probationary standards." (3RT 329:17:19.) Minutes later, counsel reiterated: ["Plaintiff's termination] was not because of her pregnancy but because she did not meet the probationary standards." (3RT 330:12-14.) Finally, defense counsel concluded her opening statement as follows: "So the evidence will show that this case is not about a cover-up, it's not about pregnancy, but it's about not meeting probationary standards." (3RT 339:3-5.)

Consistent with this denial that mixed-motives were at play, the City's interrogatory responses stated that "Plaintiff was terminated because she had a total of 50 points of demerit due to miss-outs" and its witnesses categorically disclaimed any reliance on Harris' pregnancy in deciding to terminate her. (5RT 2500:18-2505:10; 3RA 595-625.) Ayer, for example, testified that Harris' pregnancy "did not make any difference" to him when he made the recommendation to terminate Harris' employment. (5RT 2108:8-17.) Similarly, in pre-trial proceedings, Ayer had testified that his knowledge of Harris' pregnancy "had absolutely no influence on [his] decision to terminate" Harris. (1RA 161 - ¶ 18:8-11.)

E. The jury trial, the jury's verdict and post-trial motions.

On February 22, 2007, after a multi-week jury trial, the trial court instructed the jury. (1AA263-291; 6RT 3087-3100.) On February 27, 2007, the jury returned its verdict finding that Harris' pregnancy was a motivating reason in the City's termination of her, and awarding damages totaling \$177,905.00. (2AA 292-293.) Judgment was entered pursuant to the jury's verdict. (2AA 298.)

Thereafter, the City moved for new trial and JNOV, which the trial court denied. (2AA 299-310; 2AA 339-363; 2AA 532.) Finally, Harris moved for attorney's fees as the prevailing party under the statute, and the trial court awarded such fees. (3AA 721-726.)

F. The Appellate Court's Opinion, grant of re-hearing and re-issuance of its published Opinion.

The City appealed and, on October 29, 2009, the appellate court issued an opinion reversing the jury's verdict. Harris sought rehearing, which the appellate court granted. Then, on February 4, 2010, the appellate court issued its opinion on re-hearing, again holding that the trial court erred by failing to instruct the jury on the mixed-motive defense, requiring a new trial.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE MIXED-MOTIVE DEFENSE HAS NO APPLICATION TO FEHA DISCRIMINATION AND RETALIATION CLAIMS.
 - A. The mixed-motive defense arose as a matter of federal common law and later was legislatively-fixed.

The mixed-motive defense is now a creature of federal statutory law under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. (42 USC §§ 2000e-2(m) & 2000e-(5)(g)(2)(B).) Its genesis was the United States Supreme Court's highly fractured opinion in *Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins* (1989) 490 U.S. 282.8 There, the employer denied partnership to a female employee based on seemingly legitimate considerations (lack of interpersonal skills); but inextricably tied to those considerations was the employer's consideration of impermissible factors (sexual stereotypical assumptions about the way a female should act). (*Price Waterhouse*, 490 U.S. at 234-237.)

In this mixed-motive context (where both permissible and impermissible considerations were tied together), the plurality decision held that Title VII plaintiffs bear the burden of proving that the impermissible considerations were a motivating reason for the employer's decision and that, once this is shown, the employer can avoid liability altogether by proving – as an affirmative defense – that it would have made the same

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