No. S181004

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME USORT

WYNONA HARRIS, Plaintiff and Respondent,

SEP - 9 1010

v.

CITY OF SANTA MONICA, Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B199571

Los Angeles Superior Court, Case No. BS 341569

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MARSHA JONES MOUTRIE, City Attorney
JOSEPH LAWRENCE, Assistant City Attorney (Bar No. 99039)
BARBARA C. GREENSTEIN, Deputy City Attorney (Bar No. 90953)
CAROL ANN ROHR, Deputy City Attorney (Bar No. 90012)
JEANETTE SCHACHTNER, Deputy City Attorney (Bar No. 116671)
ANTHONY P. SERRITELLA, Deputy City Attorney (Bar No. 72597)

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE DENIAL OF A MIXED-MOTIVE INSTRUCTION PREVENTED THE JURY FROM CONSIDERING THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES, NOTABLY SERIOUS PERFORMANCE LAPSES, YIELDING AN UNFAIR RESULT AT TRIAL.

The FEHA required that Harris prove she was harmed "because of" her pregnancy. (Govt. C. §12940(a).)7 The CACI jury instructions given by the trial court did not require that Harris prove meaningful causation. The CACI jury instructions do not accurately reflect Harris's burden under the FEHA. The failure of the trial court to give a mixed-motive instruction (such as BAJI 12.26) prevented the jury from considering the totality of the circumstances, including the City's permissible non-discriminatory reasons for Harris's termination, and thus led to an unfair result in the trial below. The Court of Appeals recognized this miscarriage of justice, as should this Court.8

Failure to give proper jury instructions in a civil case is reviewable for prejudice, which is assumed if "it is probable that the error prejudicially affected the verdict." (*LeMons v. Regents of the University of California* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> All statutory references are to the California Government Code unless otherwise noted.

<sup>8</sup> Just because the CACI instructions are approved does not mean they accurately reflect the law. "[P]attern jury instructions . . . are not the law itself[.]" (People v. Alvarez (1996) 14 Cal.4th 155, 217.) Moreover, CACI instructions are not entitled to a presumption of correctness. (Bowman v. Wyatt (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 286, 298.) California Rules of Court, rule 2.1050(b) also notes that while the Judicial Council "makes every effort to ensure that they accurately state existing law," "[t]he articulation and interpretation of California law . . . remains within the purview of the Legislature and the courts of review." Under rule 2.1050(e), the trial court should not use the form instruction where "a different instruction would more accurately state the law." (Id.)

(1978) 21 Cal.3d 869, 875; *Logacz v. Limansky* (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 1149 [prejudicial instructional error for trial court to refuse a jury instruction on concurrent causation in wrongful death case].)

The City had the right to have the jury instructed on all theories of its case which were supported by the pleadings and evidence. (*Hasson v. Ford Motor Co.* (1977) 19 Cal. 3d 530, 543-544. Code Civ. Proc. §§607a, 608; *Bernal v. Richard Wolf. Medical Instruments Corp.* (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 1326, 1338.)

In reviewing the record in the light most favorable to the City, the Court assumes the jury might have believed the evidence upon which the instruction favorable to the City was predicated. (*Henderson v. Harnischfeger Corp.* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 663; *Whiteley v. Philip Morris Inc.* (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 635, 655.)

The trial court did not give the mixed-motive jury instruction as the City requested. Instead, the court gave CACI 2500. In so doing, Harris tacitly obtained an advantage of a lower burden of proof without also affording the City the opportunity to argue the effect of evidence supporting its mixed-motive defense. CACI 2500 merely required that the jury determine if pregnancy was "a motivating factor" in Harris's termination. Harris had the benefit of the lower burden of proof (essentially, the jury need only find whether any improper discrimination was present no matter how slight or even relevant, as with the requirement for a doctor's note), yet the City was deprived of the concomitant defense provided by the mixed-motive instruction. In such a setting, it is more than reasonably probable that the court's denial of a mixed-motive jury instruction misled the jury into believing that any degree of discrimination, even so slight that it would not have made a difference in the outcome, led to liability. This adversely affected the verdict and constituted prejudicial, reversible error. (Lundquist v. Reusser (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1193, 1213;

#### A. Proof Of Causation Is Central To Any Employment Litigation.

Harris's claim is one of disparate treatment, that is, intentional discrimination "because of" her pregnancy. (International Brotherhood of Teamsters v. United States (1977) 421 U.S. 324, 334-336; see Caldwell v. Paramount Unified Sch. Dist. (1995) 41 Cal.App.4th 189.) As a disparate treatment plaintiff, Harris bore the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the City intentionally discriminated against her "because of" her pregnancy, and that this intentional discrimination caused her job loss. (Desert Palace v. Costa (2003) 539 U.S. 90, 99; Guz. v. Bechtel National (2000) 24 Cal.4th 317, 358.) Her pregnancy must have been "a substantial factor" in the determination. (Lyle v. Warner Bros. Television, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 280.) Put a little differently, "[w]hatever the employer's decisionmaking process, a disparate treatment claim cannot succeed unless the employee's protected trait . . . had a determinative influence on the outcome." (Hazen Paper Co. v. Biggins (1993) 507 U.S. 604, 610; Green v. State of California (2007) 42 Cal.4th 254.)

As Justices White and O'Connor also recognized twenty years ago in *Price Waterhouse*, the discriminatory "because of" motive must, at the very least, be a "substantial factor" in the outcome. (*Price Waterhouse, supra*, 490 U.S. at 259 (White, J. concurring), at 265 (O'Connor, J. concurring).)9

In attempting to grapple with exactly what "because of" means in any dispute, courts in California, at the federal level and across the country have come up with various phrases – e.g. "motivating factor," "actionable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Justice O'Connor stated her belief that "because of" under Title VII means "but for' causation." *Id.* at 262-263.

conduct," "causal connection," "but for," "motivating reason," "substantial motivating reason" - in an effort to describe just what has been prohibited and why. (*Yanowitz v. L'Oreal, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at 1052.) This Court has used both "substantial factor" and "actionable." (*Lyle v. Warner Bros. Television, supra*, 38 Cal.4th at 280; *Reid v. Google, supra*, 50 Cal.4th 512.)

The logic of each is that most determinations of "because of" liability under civil rights laws are complex and involve multiple overlays of fact and policy, many of which are competing. In the end, no one term may be talismanic. Each is a proxy for causation.

Commentators have struggled to reconcile this often confounding language. "Employment discrimination law has befuddled most of those who have attempted to master it. Confusion arises when one attempts to reconcile the two frameworks that govern individual treatment cases: the *McDonnell Douglas* approach and the *Price Waterhouse* approach." (Davis, *Price-Fixing: Refining the Price Waterhouse Standard and Individual Disparate Treatment Law* (2004) 31 Fla.St.Univ.Law Review 859.)

Some commentators argue for collapsing "pretext" and "mixed motive" into one standard. (Corbett, *McDonnell Douglas, 1973-2003: May You Rest in Peace?* (2003) 6 U.Pa.J.Lab.& Emp.L 199, 212; Note, *Dare to Step Out of the Fogg: Single Motive Versus Mixed Motive Analysis in Title VII Employment Discrimination Cases* (2008) 47 U. Louisville L.Rev. 409, 424.) This Court need not necessarily decide that question here, although the City believes that such an approach has merit.

Regardless, the City agrees with Professor Davis: Courts have often used "befuddling" language to describe intentional discrimination.

Nonetheless, there exists a common, if elusive, touchstone in the FEHA and in its numerous counterparts throughout the country. That touchstone is

that intentional discrimination must occur "because of" a prohibited attribute and that Harris and others must prove at a minimum that intentional discrimination played a key legally cognizable part in whatever occurred.10

Webster's *New World Dictionary* defines "because of" as "by reason of; on account of"; see also *Kelly v. State Personnel Bd.* (1939) 31

Cal.App.2d 443, which uses the terms synonymously with "on account of" or 'in consequence of." This Court's analysis in *In re M.S.* (1995) 10

Cal.4th 698 also helps define the term. Justice Werdegar, writing for the majority, interpreted the state's hate crime laws, Penal Code §§422.6 and 422.7:

The language of causation employed in [Penal Code] sections 422.6 and 422.7 ("because of") is commonly and properly used to indicate that an event, in this case the crime, was caused in fact by something.

(Id. at 716.)

[A]s a matter of common usage, "because of" means the conduct must have been *caused by* the prohibited bias.

(Id. at 719.)11

<sup>10 &</sup>quot;Because of" may or may not be elegant language, but it is near ubiquitous in civil rights laws throughout the country. It exists alongside "equal protection," "due process" or any number of other simply stated yet perplexing phrases. Like them, "because of" is not susceptible to easy aphorism.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In footnote 7, Justice Werdegar discussed *Price Waterhouse* and acknowledged that in civil rights laws "because of" had sparked "some disagreement"; nonetheless, she also remarked: "As will appear, we interpret the "because of," as used in section 422.6 and 422.7, in light of traditional rules of causation under the state's criminal law, and find

In her concurring opinion, Justice Kennard observed:

Deceptively simple in appearance, the words "because of" as used in these criminal statutes mask a host of difficult problems. These problems may generally be divided into two categories: problems of proof and problems of interpretation.

(*Id.* at 730.)

Justice Kennard also explained:

Perhaps the most that can be said is that when the defendant has entertained both discriminatory and nondiscriminatory motives, and either alone would have been sufficient to produce the behavior, the defendant should not be found to have acted "because of" the victim's statutorily enumerated characteristic if nonbias motives so predominated over the bias motives that imposing a punishment designed particularly for bias-motivated conduct would be inherently unfair and would come perilously close to punishing improper thoughts or beliefs.

(Id. at 733-734.)

In the criminal law context, this Court's understanding of "because of" comports closely with what the City believes the FEHA also requires. This Court's FEHA jurisprudence says as much also. As stated in *Lyle v. Warner Bros. Television, supra*, in discussing harassment because of sex:

While the use of vulgar or sexually disparaging

nothing in *Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins*, [as] dictating a different analysis." (*Id.* at 719, fn.7.)

language may be relevant to such discrimination, it is not necessarily sufficient, by itself to establish actionable conduct.

(38 Cal.4th at 281.)

That means a plaintiff...will not prevail under the FEHA if a reasonable person in plaintiff's position, considering all the circumstances, would not share the same perception.

(*Id.* at 184.)

While a plaintiff need not prove that discriminatory animus was the sole motivation behind a challenged action, she must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there was legally "actionable" discrimination, (Reid v. Google (2010) 50 Cal.4th 512, 520 ["causal connection" between the employee's protected status and the adverse employment decision]; see also Mixon v. Fair Employment and Housing Commission (1987) 192 Cal.App.3d 1306, 1319; O'Mary v. Mitsubishi Electronics America, Inc. (1998) 59 Cal.App.4th 563, 584 [recognizing propriety of mixed-motive instruction]; *Heard v. Lockheed Missiles &* Space Co. (1996) 44 Cal. App. 4th 1735, 1748; Lyle v. Warner Bros. Television, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 280.) But even then there is more. The action complained about must have been significant in context. (Lyle v. Warner Bros. Television, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 280.) And even if it was, as recognized in the Price Waterhouse line of decisions, there must not be anything that would suggest the outcome would likely have been the same anyway.

# B. The CACI Instruction Did Not Require Harris To Prove That She Lost Her Job "Because Of" Her Pregnancy As Required By The FEHA.

The City requested that the court give BAJI Instruction No. 12.26,12 the mixed-motive jury instruction. Instead, the trial court gave CACI No. 2500.13 That instruction stated the City was liable if Harris's pregnancy "was a motivating reason/factor for the discharge." A "motivating factor" was defined as "something that moves the will and induces action even though other matters may have contributed to the taking of the action."

The effect is that CACI 2500 directed the jury to find against the City if the jury believed that the City took Harris's pregnancy into consideration at all, regardless of whatever other factors likely contributed to the City's decision. CACI 2500, as formulated, does not ask the jury whether Harris's pregnancy was a "substantial" factor in the City's decision, whether she would have been terminated "but for" the pregnancy, or whether the City's permissible reasons, standing alone, would have

<sup>12</sup> BAJI 12.26 reads in full: "If you find that the employer's action, which is the subject of plaintiff's claim, was actually motivated by both discriminatory and non-discriminatory reasons, the employer is not liable if it can establish by a preponderance of the evidence that its legitimate reason, standing alone, would have induced it to make the same decision. An employer may not, however, prevail in a mixed-motives case by offering a legitimate and sufficient reason for its decision if that reason did not motivate it at the time of the decision. Neither may an employer meet its burden by merely showing that at the time of the decision it was motivated only in part by a legitimate reason. The essential premise of this defense is that a legitimate reason was present, and standing alone, would have induced the employer to make the same decision."

<sup>13</sup> CACI 2500 reads in full: "Wynona Harris clams that City of Santa Monica wrongfully discriminated again her. To establish this claim, Wynona Harris must prove all of the following: 1. That City of Santa Monica was an employer; 2. That Wynona Harris was an employee of City of Santa Monica; 3. That City of Santa Monica discharged Wynona Harris; 4. That Wynona Harris's pregnancy was a motivating reason/factor for the discharge; 5. That Wynona Harris was harmed; and 6. That the discharge was a substantial factor in cause Wynona Harris's harm.

resulted in Harris losing her job. In fact, CACI 2500 does not ask the jury to contemplate at all the City's permissible, non-discriminatory reasons for separating Harris on probation. In sum, CACI 2500 does not ask the jury to contemplate the totality of the circumstances surrounding Harris's dismissal.

#### C. Harris's Termination Presents A Classic Case Of Mixed-Motive.

Given the timing of Harris's pregnancy announcement and her job loss, it was understandable that she would question whether she was discriminated against. But timing is not necessarily dispositive. (*King v. United Parcel Services, Inc.* (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 426, 436.) The jury's task should have been to sort out what happened and why within the context of the competing interests. At trial Harris offered excuses for her accidents and miss-outs, but she did not dispute their occurrences. Nor does Harris dispute that the BBB management initiated its investigation into her performance before she disclosed her pregnancy. Yet because of the timing of her dismissal, close to her pregnancy disclosure, she claims discrimination which the City expressly denies. This type of situation is exactly why the mixed-motive defense was recognized - so that a jury would consider whether, despite Harris's pregnancy disclosure, the City would have ended her employment in any case. (*Price Waterhouse, supra*, 490 U.S. at 239.)

D. A Mixed-Motive Instruction Would Have Required The Jury To Consider The Totality Of The Circumstances And Promote Full And Fair Consideration Of The Facts And Protect Both Parties' Rights.

The City asked the court for BAJI Instruction 12.26, which provides, in part:

If you find that the employer's action . . . was actually motivated by both discriminatory and non-discriminatory reasons, the employer is not liable if it can establish by a preponderance of the evidence that its legitimate reason, standing alone, would have induced it to make the same decision.

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